# The Chaperonin Containing TCP-1: Interactions with the Mammalian Cytoskeleton

Karen Brackley



# UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

Department of Cell and Molecular Biology University of Gothenburg, Sweden 2010

ISBN 978-91-628-8060-6 Copyright © 2010, Karen Brackley Department of Cell and Molecular Biology University of Gothenburg, Sweden

Printed by Chalmers Reproservice Göteborg, Sweden

for my parents

# The Chaperonin Containing TCP-1: Interactions with the Mammalian Cytoskeleton

Karen Brackley

Department of Cell and Molecular Biology University of Gothenburg, Box 462, SE-405 30, Göteborg, Sweden

#### Abstract

The eukaryotic <u>Chaperonin Containing TCP-1</u> (CCT) is a heterooligomeric chaperonin essential for enabling the cytoskeletal proteins actin and tubulin to fold to their native state. The eight CCT subunits are encoded by individual genes and are present in cells as the ~960kDa oligomer, as components of micro-complexes, and as monomeric subunits. In addition to the well-characterised substrate folding mechanism of the CCT oligomer, roles for CCT subunits as monomeric proteins are emerging. The work in this thesis illustrates the dependence upon functional CCT and its roles in cytoskeletal organisation.

Levels of functional CCT have far-reaching implications for cellular functions dependent upon an intact cytoskeleton and siRNA targeting of CCT subunits results in growth arrest and reduced levels of native actin and tubulin. Targeting each CCT subunit individually by siRNA revealed different effects upon cytoskeletal organisation, suggestive of distinct roles for specific CCT Cell shape and microfilament polymerisation are influenced by monomers. CCT monomers with CCT<sub>E</sub> levels appearing particularly important for these processes. Furthermore, CCT $\varepsilon$  and to a lesser extent  $\zeta$  and  $\theta$  were found to colocalise to microfilaments and CCT subunits associated with non-soluble protein assemblies following detergent extraction are predominantly monomeric. Gelsolin, an actin filament severing and capping protein was identified as a CCT-binding protein, providing another link between CCT activity and cvtoskeletal organisation. Although shown to bind the CCT oligomer with some degree of specificity, it is most likely that gelsolin does not represent a CCT folding substrate. siRNA of CCT subunits influences gelsolin levels differently depending upon the target subunit, suggestive of some regulation between CCT monomers, F-actin, and gelsolin levels.

The work presented in this thesis indicates that CCT influences the mammalian cytoskeleton far beyond its involvement in folding newly synthesised actin and tubulin polypeptides and implicates CCT subunits in their monomeric assembly state as likely perpetrators of such activity.

Keywords: CCT, TRiC, Chaperonin, Molecular chaperone, Cytoskeleton, Actin, Tubulin, Gelsolin

# Publications

This thesis is based upon the following papers, which will be referred to in the text by their roman numerals

# Paper I

Grantham J, **Brackley KI**, Willison KR. Substantial CCT activity is required for cell cycle progression and cytoskeletal organization in mammalian cells. Exp Cell Res. 2006 Jul; 312(12):2309-24

# Paper II

Brackley KI, Grantham J.

Subunits of the chaperonin CCT interact with F-actin and influence cell shape and cytoskeletal assembly.

Exp Cell Res. 2010 Feb; 316(4):543-553

#### Paper III

Brackley KI, Grantham J.

Interactions between the actin filament capping and severing protein gelsolin and the molecular chaperone CCT: evidence for non-classical substrate interactions.

Manuscript

Other publications, not included in this thesis

#### Paper IV

Martín-Benito J, Grantham J, Boskovic J, **Brackley KI**, Carrascosa JL, Willison KR, Valpuesta JM. The inter-ring arrangement of the cytosolic chaperonin CCT. EMBO Rep. 2007 Mar; 8(3):252-7.

#### Paper V

Brackley KI, Grantham J.

Activities of the chaperonin containing TCP-1 (CCT): implications for cell cycle progression and cytoskeletal organisation.

Cell Stress Chaperones. 2009 Jan;14(1):23-31. Review.

# Contents

Abstract	5
Publication list	6
Mammalian actin and tubulin cytoskeletal networks	10
Chaperonin Containing TCP-1	12
Protein folding in the crowded cell environment	12
Mammalian molecular chaperone systems	13
The chaperonins	16
The chaperonin containing TCP-1	17
CCT substrates	19
Actin and tubulin – obligate CCT folding substrates	21
CCT regulation by phosducin-like proteins	24
Roles for CCT monomeric subunits	24
Results	26
Paper I	26
Paper II	27
Paper III	28
Discussion	30
Levels of functional CCT are important for cell cycle progression and cytoskeletal integrity	30
CCT's influence upon the cytoskeleton extends beyond the folding of newly synthesised substrate proteins; monomeric subunits influence cell shape and cytoskeletal dynamics	32
Gelsolin binds CCT, but not as an obligate folding substrate	35
Concluding Remarks	38
Acknowledgements	39
References	40

The cytoskeleton is composed of filamentous protein polymers called microfilaments, microtubules and intermediate filaments. These networks along with families of accessory proteins enable many important cellular processes.

The cytoskeleton is often regarded as scaffolding running throughout the cell. This is suggestive of a rigid supportive structure and although filaments of these networks are strong enough to withstand forces both from outside and within cells, this is a huge injustice to the complex and dynamic nature of the cytoskeleton.

Without an intact functional cytoskeleton, we would be unable to contract our muscles (important not only for movement, but also for a heartbeat), our neurons would be unable to branch out and make new connections, cells would be unable to move and unable to divide. Obviously, based upon these very few examples alone, we have a lot to thank these proteins for.

Therefore, it is crucial that cells are able to maintain their supplies of the proteins which form these cytoskeletal structures, and also, and maybe more importantly that these building blocks have the correct structure to allow them to be incorporated correctly into these filaments. For actin (the protein microfilaments are made from) and tubulin (the building blocks of microtubules), this is the responsibility of the molecular chaperone Chaperonin Containing TCP-1 (CCT). CCT actively assists during the folding of these proteins allowing them to achieve their correct 3-dimensional structure, a process vital for a functional cytoskeleton and all downstream processes dependent upon it.

The work in this thesis looks more closely at the relationship between the cytoskeleton and this molecular chaperone, establishing that interactions extend beyond those enabling folding of newly synthesised proteins to include interactions between CCT subunits and native proteins in established cytoskeletal networks.

#### Mammalian actin and tubulin cytoskeletal networks

Within mammalian cells there are three cytoskeletal networks, microfilaments (composed of actin monomers) microtubules (built from tubulin heterodimers) and intermediate filaments (assembled from different intermediate filament proteins), together these constitute the mammalian cytoskeleton. These cytoskeletal structures are important for a whole host of cellular functions and many of their properties are dependent upon their dynamic nature and a host of accessory proteins. The assembly and dynamics of microtubules and, more relevantly for the work presented in this thesis, microfilaments, will be briefly discussed here.

Microtubules are hollow tubes composed of tubulin  $\alpha/\beta$ -heterodimers. Tubulin binding co-factors enable  $\alpha/\beta$ -tubulin heterodimer formation from  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ tubulin monomers. Heterodimers then align to form protofilaments, which subsequently associate laterally forming cylindrical microtubules. Microtubules are polarised relative to their nucleation from the microtubule organising centre (MTOC) and most dynamic at their plus end, located towards the cell periphery. Rapid assembly and disassembly of microtubules is pivotal to their functions. Microtubules experience "dynamic instability" whereby they can rapidly fluctuate between elongation and shrinkage. Microtubules are often considered as transportation networks throughout the cell as the motor proteins kinesins and dyneins travel along microtubules transporting cargo proteins and vesicles to intracellular locations. In addition to motor proteins, a whole host of other proteins, collectively referred to as <u>M</u>icrotubule <u>A</u>ssociated <u>P</u>roteins (MAPs) bind to microtubules, regulating their activity and assembly (reviewed by e.g. Desai and Mitchison, 1997; Valiron et al., 2001).

Microfilaments are composed of actin monomers, the requirements of actin and tubulin differ prior to filament incorporation in that no equivalents of tubulin cofactors are necessary in the actin system. Like microtubules, microfilament formation begins with a nucleation step dependent upon actin monomer concentrations. The plus and minus ends of actin filaments are also referred to as the barbed and pointed ends respectively; following nucleation, monomers associate most rapidly with the barbed end of filaments. Again, as for microtubules, it is essential that microfilaments are dynamic, thereby enabling cell motility and morphological changes. Actin filaments are regulated by a host of proteins termed actin binding proteins. Actin binding proteins can be subdivided into a few key categories, including: i) Actin monomer-binding proteins, these control the pool of unpolymerised actin within cells, e.g. β-thymosins and profilin. ii) Actin filament-capping proteins, that can bind barded or pointed ends of actin filaments and prevent subunit association/disassociation. iii) Actin filament-severing proteins create short fragmented filaments and iv) Actin filament cross-linking proteins, which enable microfilaments to assemble into higher order structures such as stress fibres. Stress fibres contain many actin filaments bundled together with alternating polarities and myosin II filaments that give stress fibres their contractile properties. As with individual actin filaments, stress fibres are also regulated by an array of actin binding proteins. Stress fibre assemblies can be classified into three main types with differing assembly mechanisms and intracellular locations; traverse arcs lay parallel to the lamellipodia structures at cell edges, dorsal stress fibres elongate from the cell edge towards the dorsal surface, and ventral stress fibres, which are anchored by focal adhesions at both ends (reviewed by e.g. dos Remedios et al., 2003; Hotulainen and Lappalainen, 2006; Naumanen et al., 2008; Pellegrin and Mellor, 2007; Pollard, 1990).

The structural and dynamic nature of the cytoskeleton is paramount to cell function. During protein folding it is the molecular chaperone CCT which ensures that actin and tubulin attain their native conformations ready for incorporation into cytoskeletal networks. Incorporation of misfolded proteins into filaments would have potentally detrimental affects upon cytoskeletal functions, therefore demonstrating the importance of CCT.

# **Chaperonin Containing TCP-1**

<u>Chaperonin Containing TCP-1 (CCT, also known as TCP-1 Ring Complex or</u> TRiC) is a eukaryotic chaperonin essential for the folding of newly synthesised actin and tubulin monomers. Chaperonins are a specialised sub-group of a class of proteins, known as molecular chaperones, which assist in the folding of newly synthesised proteins. Before describing the chaperonins in more detail, some basic principals need to be considered, namely, why do proteins require assistance to fold and how do molecular chaperones achieve this?

#### Protein folding in the crowded cell environment

In order to be functional, proteins must have adopted their correct threedimensional structure. There are different occasions when proteins will be unfolded and therefore require assistance from the cellular protein folding machinery in order to prevent their aggregation. If proteins are localised to particular cellular compartments, during translocation they may adopt linear formations to enable passage through membranes and therefore need refolding upon reaching their destination. Additionally, proteins can experience offpathway folding reactions during conditions of cellular stress and require assistance to try to regain native structure and prevent aggregation. However, the bulk of cellular protein folding activity occurs when proteins are newly translated as polypeptide chains and need to fold to their correct conformation.

As newly synthesised polypeptides emerge from the ribosome into the cell they are confronted with the daunting task of reaching their native conformation whilst in a crowded environment, i.e. surrounded by high macromolecule concentrations (200-400mg/ml protein and RNA (Ellis, 1997)). Proteins of approximately 300 amino acid residues can take up to 1 minute to be translated and since the newly synthesised polypeptide becomes available in a vectoral manner during translation, this means that regions which are translated first may be susceptible to aggregation before the rest of the protein has been translated (Hartl and Hayer-Hartl, 2002). The exit site of the ribosome itself is too narrow to allow formation of protein structure (Nissen et al., 2000) and therefore newly synthesised polypeptide chains must emerge during translation, vulnerable to the crowded, protein-rich conditions of the cell environment. This increases the

possibility that proteins may fail to reach their native conformations, either by failing to fold correctly upon exit from the ribosome or by later "off-pathway" events resulting in loss of native structure. Either way, non-native protein conformations can result in protein aggregation, a potentially dangerous threat to the cells' survival. Protein aggregation is often associated with disease; particularly neurological disorders such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases that arise when proteins misfold and resulting aggregates are deposited in cells or tissues (e.g. Dobson, 2003; Stefani and Dobson, 2003). Although individual diseases are usually associated with misfolding of one particular protein, Bucciantini et al., have shown that proteins other than those classically associated with amyloid diseases are capable of aggregate formation, producing levels of cytotoxicity comparable to those of A $\beta$  (1-42) (common in Alzheimer's disease) (Bucciantini et al., 2002).

Anfinsen (e.g. 1973) proposed a model whereby the amino acid sequence of a nascent polypeptide will dictate the protein's native state, and whilst this remains true, we now know that as well as the polypeptide sequences' intrinsic properties, the cell contains proteins intent on ensuring other proteins can fold to their correct conformation. Molecular chaperones are a group of proteins, often working together, assisting nascent polypeptide chains to reach their native conformation, smoothing folding energy landscapes and offering protection from the crowded cytoplasm, allowing safe release of newly synthesised proteins (e.g. Ellis, 1997). Most molecular chaperones require ATP hydrolysis for their mechanism of action. Although this investment of ATP in the folding of newly synthesised polypeptides and those that have gone off-pathway may seem expensive to the cell, the alternative may be protein aggregation, with potentially catastrophic consequences. Furthermore, the cost of re-folding a protein that has gone off-pathway is only  $\sim 10\%$  of the energy required for initial translation (Horwich et al., 2007). Therefore, cells may save energy "repairing" misfolded proteins using molecular chaperones as opposed to re-synthesising new ones to replace them.

#### Mammalian molecular chaperone systems

More than 20 years ago the term 'molecular chaperones' was designated to describe "a class of cellular proteins whose function is to ensure that the folding of certain other polypeptide chains and their assembly into oligomeric structures

occur correctly" (Ellis, 1987). Chaperones are therefore often responsible for the final step in producing biologically active proteins following transcription Many molecular chaperones are designated (and were first and translation. identified) as heat shock proteins (Hsps) based upon their up-regulation during However, they are also necessary for many of the cellular stress. processes in cells growing under normal conditions. 'housekeeping' Mammalian chaperones include the Hsp70, Hsp90 and chaperonin systems. Some chaperones may cooperate with each other and many newly synthesised proteins will interact with more than one type of chaperone and their host of accessory proteins / co-chaperones before reaching their native conformation. Figure 1 demonstrates the different pathways newly synthesised proteins may take and the chaperones they can interact with between exiting the ribosome and reaching their correct conformation in the cell cytosol. The sooner proteins can interact with chaperones the less likely they are to go off pathway. The first line of defence against protein aggregation are chaperones which are ribosome bound, interacting with nascent polypeptide chains co-translationally (Craig et al., 2003). The eukaryotic NAC (nascent chain-associated complex) binds and protects stretches of hydrophobic residues in emerging nascent chains. This activity is ATP independent and is not known to actively prevent aggregation, instead it appears as more of a stabilising, protective measure whilst peptide chains wait for completion of their translation and release from the ribosome, following which NAC complex dissociates from polypeptide chains (reviewed by e.g. Hartl and Hayer-Hartl, 2002; Young et al., 2004). The constitutively expressed Hsp70 homologue Hsc70 can also interact with nascent chains and has a very general clientele as it recognises exposed hydrophobic sequences, common to most nascent polypeptide chains. Interactions with Hsp70 vary depending upon a protein's size. The larger a protein is, the more likely an interaction is needed for efficient protein folding. Up to 20% of bacterial proteins interact with the Hsp70 homologue DnaK whereas eukaryotic proteins are generally larger, and therefore a higher percentage will utilise the Hsp70 chaperone family during their folding pathways (Mayer and Bukau, 2005). Unlike the ribosome-tethered NAC complex, the activity of Hsp70 chaperones is ATP dependent and their ATP hydrolysis cycle controls the rate of protein folding. The rate-limiting ATP hydrolysis step of Hsp70 protein folding can be stimulated by Hsp40, a co-chaperone that mediates interactions with newly synthesised proteins, subsequently transferring them to Hsp70 (Wegele et al 2006).



Figure 1: Mammalian pathways of chaperone assisted protein folding. Whilst some simple proteins may be able to reach their native conformation without assistance from molecular chaperones, many cannot. The cell contains multiple chaperone pathways. Proteins may utilise cross talk between pathways and a host of co-chaperones and folding cofactors to become folded to their correct three-dimensional structure. Based upon Young et al., (2004).

Cytoplasmic Hsp90 is essential for eukaryotic cell viability and is one of the most abundant proteins in cells under non-stressed conditions, accounting for 1-2% of soluble cell protein (e.g. Lai et al., 1984), however it is not required for the de novo protein folding of most proteins (Nathan et al., 1997). Instead, the ATP dependent Hsp90 chaperone machinery appears to regulate the activity of proteins, especially those involved in signalling pathways. Hsp90's functional mechanisms, selectivity for client proteins and their binding mechanisms are still not well understood (reviewed by e.g. Pearl and Prodromou, 2006; Wegele et al., 2004; Young et al., 2004). The Hsp organising protein (Hop) links the Hsp70 and Hsp90 chaperones in mammalian systems, facilitating substrate transfer without influencing the ATPase activity of either (Johnson et al., 1998; Wegele et al., 2006). Hsp90 client proteins can be divided into three main groups; protein kinases, transcription factors and structurally unrelated proteins

(reviewed by Pearl et al., 2008). Hsp90 selectively interacts with kinases which act as informational hubs in signalling networks (Citri et al., 2006), including many involved in oncogenesis such as c-Src, PKB/Akt1 and Cdk4. Hsp90 plays important roles in disease states and especially cancers. Its function has been implicated in many of the hallmark steps of cancer and elevated Hsp90 levels are linked to poor prognosis. Hsp90 inhibitors are being developed for cancer treatment and should have wide reaching impacts due to the large number of client proteins involved in oncogenesis (reviewed by Neckers, 2007; Pearl et al., 2008). Additionally, Hsp90's interaction with the mutant form of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator has been suggested to contribute to the disease pathology of cystic fibrosis (Wang et al., 2006) and Hsp90 is also involved in viral replication complex assembly.

#### The chaperonins

Chaperonins are a sub-class of molecular chaperones. Chaperonins are subdivided into Group I chaperonins (found in eubacteria and endosymbiotic organelles), of which the GroEL/GroES system is the most well characterised example, and Group II chaperonins (from archeabacteria and the eukaryotic cytosol) which include the thermosome and CCT. The chaperonins all have a cylindrical shape composed of two back-to-back rings surrounding a central folding cavity. This cavity offers a protective environment, reducing the effects of molecular crowding during a substrate's folding cycle. Demonstrating how important they are for protein folding, chaperonins are present in all three kingdoms of life and moreover are essential proteins, *E.coli* and *S. cerevisiae* deficient for GroEL or CCT subunits respectively are non-viable (Fayet et al., 1989; Stoldt et al., 1996).

Each chaperonin ring contains between seven and nine individual subunits, of approximately 60kDa resulting in the total molecular weight of chaperonins reaching up to 1MDa. Features, such as dependence upon a functional ATP cycle and the domain architecture of chaperonin subunits are conserved amongst all chaperonins. Within each subunit there are three distinct domains (figure 2c), the apical domain is responsible for substrate capture whilst the equatorial domain contains the highly conserved ATP nucleotide binding site and mediates inter- and intra-ring communication. Communication between the apical and equatorial domains within each subunit occurs via the flexible hinge-like

intermediate domain. The eubacterial GroEL system works with a lid-forming co-chaperone GroES. Flexible loops of sequence bind to substrate binding regions in the GroEL apical domains causing dissociation of substrates and their enclosure in the cavity (e.g. Bukau and Horwich, 1998; Horwich et al., 2009; Sigler et al., 1998; Xu et al., 1997). For the eukaryotic chaperonin CCT no such co-chaperone exists and cavity enclosure is achieved by conformational rearrangements of the helical protrusion regions of CCT subunits' apical domains (e.g. Ditzel et al., 1998; Klumpp et al., 1997; Llorca et al., 1998).



Figure 2: 3D reconstruction of the CCT oligomer from cryo-electron microscopy reprinted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd. The EMBO Journal (Llorca et al., 2001b) copyright 2001 (A). The fixed arrangement of the CCT subunits within the chaperonin ring as determined by Liou and Willison (1997) (B), the arrangement of CCT domains within individual subunits of the chaperonin (Martin-Benito et al., 2007b), based upon the crystal structure of the thermosome (Ditzel et al., 1998) (C).

#### The Chaperonin Containing TCP-1

The number of different genes encoding the subunits of a chaperonin can vary from one in the case of GroEL with its homoheptameric rings, one, two or three in the archeal thermosome, and up to eight or nine in the eukaryotic chaperonin CCT. CCT is therefore unique in that each of its back-to-back rings contains eight subunits derived from individual genes (Kubota et al., 1994). In yeast, subunits are known as Cct1-8p whilst mammalian nomenclature for the subunits is CCT $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ ,  $\epsilon$ ,  $\zeta$ ,  $\eta$  and  $\theta$  (in testis a ninth, tissue-specific, subunit is present, sharing greater than 80% homology with CCT $\zeta$  and is therefore termed CCT $\zeta$ -2 (Kubota et al., 1997)). Liou and Willison deduced that these subunits have a fixed position within the rings, as shown in Figure 2b (Liou and Willison, 1997). CCT subunits are most divergent in their apical domain sequences and CCT orthologues have areas of related sequence in polypeptide binding regions across species (Kim et al., 1994). GroEL and CCT share sequence similarities in both the equatorial and intermediate domains but display no significant sequence homology in the polypeptide binding regions of the apical domains. Differences between the two chaperonins in this region suggest that substratebinding mechanisms may differ. Substrates binding GroEL have only one type of subunit protein to bind, whereas CCT offers eight different proteins with diverse sequences. Therefore, CCT has a much more complex binding interface to offer its client proteins compared to its bacterial counterpart. Furthermore, CCT substrate binding sites have been aligned to specific resides underneath the apical domain helical protrusions (Pappenberger et al., 2002). The fact that these are polar amino acid residues suggests that the binding of actin and tubulin could be sequence-specific and not just via general hydrophobic binding mechanisms that would generally detect non-native proteins. The different mechanisms by which GroEL and CCT interact with their client proteins indicates much more general substrate-capture mechanisms for GroEL compared to the CCT chaperonin system. Furthermore, GroEL, mitochondrial Hsp60 and the thermosome are all heat inducible whereas CCT is not upregulated during heat shock (Horwich et al., 2007). Therefore, whilst other chaperonins are able to assist with general protein folding, under stress conditions, CCT does not mediate general refolding of heat induced off-pathway conformations suggesting that under normal cell conditions CCT satisfies a very specific folding requirement within the eukaryotic cytosol.

From cryoelectron microscopy studies of actin and tubulin bound CCT, it seems that CCT substrates remain bound to the chaperonin (Llorca et al., 2001b). In the GroEL/GroES system substrates are released into the cavity for folding. Therefore, if substrates remain bound, CCT potentially offers greater levels of active assistance in protein folding compared to the GroEL/GroES system, which can be considered as a more passive, yet protected, folding environment. In agreement with this is the way in which different chaperonins execute their ATP hydrolysis cycles. GroEL subunits hydrolyse their ATP nucleotides in a concerted manner (Yifrach and Horovitz, 1995) whilst CCT subunits hydrolyse their ATP in a defined order as a wave around the CCT ring (Lin and Sherman,

1997; Rivenzon-Segal et al., 2005), a process which allows conformational rearrangements of substrates bound across the cavity (Llorca et al., 2001b).

# CCT substrates

CCT was originally identified as a chaperone mediating actin and tubulin folding (Gao et al., 1992; Sternlicht et al., 1993; Ursic and Culbertson, 1991; Yaffe et al., 1992) and these are still considered the archetypal obligate substrates of this chaperonin. Tubulin-CCT interactions involve all eight of CCT's subunits, suggesting that CCT may have evolved for tubulin folding requirements and later adapted during actin evolution to accommodate its folding requirements. Actin has ancestral genes dating back ~three billion years (Pollard and Cooper, 2009) and prokaryotic actin predecessors such as MreB can fold to their native conformation and even polymerise into functional filamentous structures (Carballido-Lopez and Errington, 2003; Michie and Lowe, 2006; van den Ent et al., 2001) without CCT. However, eukaryotic actin is unable to reach a native conformation unassisted and GroEL cannot replace the need for CCT (Pappenberger et al., 2006; Stemp et al., 2005). Altschuler and Willison (2008) propose that CCT overcomes particular folding difficulties faced by eukaryotic actin. CCT's adaptation to accommodate actin folding function is supported by the fact that during the evolution of individual CCT subunits by gene duplications, CCT $\delta/\epsilon$  and  $\alpha/\beta/\eta$  clades are those that evolved most recently (Archibald et al., 2000) and CCT $\beta$ ,  $\delta$  and  $\varepsilon$  are those responsible for actin-specific substrate interactions.

Apart from actin and tubulin, until recently only a limited number of proteins had been identified as CCT substrates (reviewed by Dunn et al., 2001; Valpuesta et al., 2002; Willison and Grantham, 2001)

A number of cell cycle related proteins have been identified as CCT substrates, including Polo-like kinase 1 (Plk1) involved in  $G_2/M$  cell-cycle progression (Liu et al., 2005) and in CCT siRNA targeted cells, Plk1 levels are reduced, consistent with this (paper I). Cyclin E has also been identified as a CCT binding protein (Won et al., 1998), (although data in paper I suggest that it does not behave as a CCT substrate). Cdc20 and Cdh1 are cell cycle proteins responsible for APC/C activation at mitosis and  $G_1$  respectively, these proteins rely upon CCT for two aspects of their function (Camasses et al., 2003).

Firstly, Cdc20 and Cdh1 rely upon CCT as substrates to achieve their native protein structures. Both of these proteins are WD repeat proteins, a class of proteins that have been shown to commonly use CCT for their protein folding Ho et al., (2002) performed a screen for protein-protein requirements. interactions using immunoprecipitation and mass-spectrometry and from the 21 proteins interacting with 3 or more CCT subunit proteins, 16 were WD repeat proteins (Ho et al., 2002), representing 17% of the total yeast WD repeat proteins (Valpuesta et al., 2002). This protein fold may require assistance from CCT; moreover, these propeller-shaped  $\beta$ -sheet structures would fit within the dimensions of the CCT cavity (Craig, 2003; Valpuesta et al., 2002). Despite having 7-blade  $\beta$ -sheet propeller structures, the interaction between CCT and Cdc20 / Cdh1 was mapped to blades III through V, suggesting that specific recognition mechanisms exist allowing CCT to distinguish not only between different WD repeat proteins, but also between their different blades (Camasses et al., 2003). Secondly, following folding to their native structure, Cdc20 and Cdh1 then use CCT as a platform for assembly into functional complexes with APC/C. This mechanism may allow a high degree of regulation by "just-intime" assembly, in other words if Cdc20-APC/C complex assembly is the rate limiting step for cell cycle progression, this is regulated by CCT activity levels (Dekker, 2010).

In a similar manner to Cdc20 and Cdh1, the von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) tumour suppressor protein also uses CCT for folding and assembly. VHL represents a genuine folding substrate of CCT but, after folding, utilises CCT as a platform for its assembly into a functional complex with elongin B and elongin C (Feldman et al., 1999; Melville et al., 2003).

Recently, two studies in yeast greatly contributed to our current knowledge of CCT interacting proteins (Dekker et al., 2008; Yam et al., 2008). 136 CCT interacting genes/proteins were identified using both proteomic and genomic approaches (Dekker et al., 2008) and via a genome-wide small pool expression cloning approach a higher estimation was made that 6-7% of cytosolic proteins interact with CCT (Yam et al., 2008). Proteins that interact with CCT were shown to have a propensity toward being components of oligomeric assemblies and/or enriched for regions of  $\beta$ -sheet (Yam et al., 2008). CCT interacting proteins identified using these methods will not all represent proteins which have an obligate requirement for CCT and cannot reach their native state in systems lacking the chaperonin (such as actin and tubulin). Additional

categories of interacting partners include: i) proteins that bind to CCT as regulatory proteins, assisting with protein folding, either by delivering substrates to the ring or by regulating the folding activity/rate of CCT; ii) proteins using CCT as a platform for oligomerisation and iii) proteins which may have developed off-pathway conformations and bound to CCT opportunistically to try and re-fold. Proteins belonging to any of these three categories do not represent obligate folding substrates of CCT.

Dekker and colleagues (2008) identified components of the septin ring complex as a novel group of CCT-interacting cytoskeletal proteins. They also identified a number of proteins with nuclear functions, including proteins that make up the nuclear pore complex and those involved in nuclear transport. Additionally histone deacetylases were identified as CCT binding partners, consistent with a previous report that HDAC3 deacetylase requires CCT for its activation, via assembly into a complex with SMRT (Guenther et al., 2002).

It can be seen that CCT interacts with a diverse range of interacting proteins which utilise the chaperonin to satisfy different requirements during their maturation into functional proteins. Techniques to detect protein-protein interactions are increasing in sensitivity, allowing interactions that occur with lower abundance or more transiently to be detected; consequently, the pool of known CCT interacting proteins is expanding. As this number increases, it will become easier to establish if any shared characteristics / folding requirements exist amongst them as currently very little is known. It will also be important to determine which proteins represent those with an absolute requirement for CCT in order to achieve their native structure.

#### Actin and tubulin – obligate CCT folding substrates

The main substrates of CCT are the essential cytoskeletal proteins actin and tubulin (Gao et al., 1992), both of which depend upon CCT to reach their native conformations (Tian et al., 1995b). Following translation, actin and tubulin polypeptides are presented to CCT in a quasi-native state (discussed below) and it has been proposed that the ATP independent chaperone prefoldin (GimC in yeast), binds to nascent chains and delivers them to chaperonins for further folding (e.g. Hansen et al., 1999; Siegers et al., 2003; Vainberg et al., 1998). Eukaryotic prefoldin has more complex subunit compositions and substrate binding mechanisms (Leroux et al., 1999; Martin-Benito et al., 2007a) than its

archeal counterpart and three-dimensional reconstructions have shown interactions between prefoldin and specific CCT apical domains, presenting a mechanism for delivery of partially folded actin to the chaperonin (Martin-Benito et al., 2002).

Both actin and tubulin are able to adopt two different orientations across the chaperonin cavity, binding subunits on opposing sides of the ring. Actin interacts with two CCT subunits upon binding with the small (N-terminal) domain of actin binding constitutively to CCT $\delta$  whilst the larger (C-terminal) domain of actin binds to either CCT $\epsilon$  or  $\beta$  (Llorca et al., 1999a). The interaction of CCT with tubulin also occurs via two different binding orientations, however, in the case of tubulin each binding orientation utilises five CCT $\epsilon$ ,  $\zeta$  and  $\beta$  or the N-terminal binds CCT $\eta$  and  $\alpha$  and the C-terminal binds CCT $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$  and  $\theta$  (Llorca et al., 2000), as shown in Figure 3A.

CCT subunits involved in actin interactions have been identified, shown in Figure 3B (Hynes and Willison, 2000; Llorca et al., 2001a; Llorca et al., 1999a), and the actin sequences responsible for CCT binding and folding have been mapped (Hynes and Willison, 2000; Neirynck et al., 2006; Rommelaere et al., 1999). These sites are interesting because normally chaperone-substrate interactions occur via hydrophobic interactions in areas of the protein that will be buried inside the native protein structure. However, in the case of actin, CCT interacting sequences have been mapped to the surface of native actin, suggesting that actin interacts with the chaperonin as a quasi-native foldingintermediate with a high-degree of folded structure (Llorca et al., 2000; Tian et al., 1995a). Different sub-domains of the actin molecule bind CCT subunits on opposing sides of the chaperonin ring, stretching it across the chaperonin ring (Llorca et al., 1999a), separating sub-domains 2 and 4 and expanding the ATP binding cleft (Villebeck et al., 2007). GroEL is unable to fold native actin (Stemp et al., 2005) and this may result from the absence of such expansion during  $\beta$ -actin–GroEL interactions (Villebeck et al., 2007). ATP binding promotes the closure of an in-built lid from the apical domains of CCT, thereby closing the cavity (Llorca et al., 2001b), which has been shown to be essential for productive folding of actin to its native state (Reissmann et al., 2007). However, unlike the GroEL system cavity closure does not induce release of substrate into the cavity. ATP hydrolysis induces conformational changes in



Figure 3: Possible binding orientations of tubulin (A) and actin (B) to CCT. Conformational rearrangements of actin are determined by the ATP hydrolysis cycle of CCT (C). The N-termini of CCT substrates (grey) are more easily released from the ring than the C-termini (black) which are bound with higher affinity (Hynes and Willison, 2000; Llorca et al., 2001b). Upon ATP hydrolysis, which occurs sequentially around the ring (Lin and Sherman, 1997), actin moves across the cavity creating a more compact structure, but one which remains attached to the chaperonin (Llorca et al., 2001b).

CCT sequentially around the ring in a defined order (Lin and Sherman, 1997), resulting in movement of substrates from being extended across the cavity to a more compact structure as shown in figure 3C. This hinge-like movement of actin around its nucleotide cleft is important and mutants in this region prevent actin maturing to its native state and result in lack of substrate release from the chaperonin (McCormack et al., 2001a; Neirynck et al., 2006). Nucleotide hydrolysis by CCT subunits therefore directly influences actins' structural conformation, demonstrating that the chaperonin plays an active role in protein folding as opposed to merely providing an environment to allow passive folding to occur (as reviewed by, e.g. Brackley and Grantham, 2009; Gutsche et al., 1999; Horwich et al., 2007). Actin is released from CCT as a productive folding intermediate which is stabilised by nucleotide and cation binding (Altschuler and Willison, 2008). It is uncertain whether actin needs to bind cyclase associated protein (CAP) to become loaded with nucleotide, or whether this final

step towards the maturation of actin occurs whilst bound to CCT, but once achieved, actin monomers are native and able to be incorporated into microfilaments.

#### CCT regulation by phosducin-like proteins

Recently a role for the family of phosducin-like proteins as regulators of CCT activity has emerged. Originally linked to G-protein signalling, these proteins have been shown to bind to CCT in their native state and regulate CCTmediated folding (reviewed by Willardson and Howlett, 2007). Three phosducin like proteins have been shown to interact with CCT, but so far their roles are not clearly defined. For example, using an in vitro yeast CCT-actin folding system, McCormack et al., (2009) have shown that, via direct interactions between the C-terminus of Plp2p and actin subdomain 4, Plp2p stimulates actin folding, increasing yields by up to 30 fold (McCormack et al., 2009). This is contradictory to the inhibitory effect of human PDCL3 (PhLP2) on CCT folding activity (McCormack et al., 2009; Stirling et al., 2007), suggesting that higher eukaryotes may have developed additional regulatory mechanisms governing phosducin-like protein mediated CCT-substrate folding (McCormack et al., 2009). Our understanding of CCT function in vivo will be greatly enhanced as we begin to understand more about the complex regulation of CCT substrate folding by co-chaperones and regulatory proteins.

#### Roles for CCT monomeric subunits:

CCT's assistance during the folding of newly synthesised proteins fulfils the classic job description of a molecular chaperone. However, it has been shown that CCT has other functional roles, and the focus of the work presented in this thesis extends our knowledge of such non-classical CCT interactions. Although the majority of cellular CCT is in the oligomeric assembly state, the cell also contains CCT subunits as monomeric entities or within micro-complexes composed of a few CCT subunits (Liou and Willison, 1997), additionally, the CCT oligomer is dynamic and can assemble and disassemble under physiological conditions (Roobol et al., 1999a). Interestingly, some CCT interactions occur independently of the chaperonin oligomer and roles for monomeric CCT subunits are emerging. For example, CCT  $\alpha$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\zeta$  and  $\theta$  have

been identified as microtubule associated proteins (Roobol et al., 1999b) and  $CCT\alpha$  (independently or possibly within the oligomer) has been shown to localise to the centrosome (Brown et al., 1996) and to microtubule derived structures important for spermiogenesis (Soues et al., 2003). CCT subunits have recently been implicated in the suppression of polyglutamine aggregates (Behrends et al., 2006; Kitamura et al., 2006; Tam et al., 2006; Tam et al., 2009). Tam et al., (2006) found that in yeast, aggregation can be suppressed by over-expression of CCT1 or CCT4 and interestingly, the apical domain of CCT1 alone is sufficient to suppress aggregation, whilst other subunits do not mediate similar effects (Tam et al., 2006). This once again demonstrates the specific binding characteristics of individual CCT subunits and effectively rules out a requirement for the oligomer in polyglutamine aggregation suppression. Similarly, overexpression of CCT6 can, in an ATP binding dependant manner, rescue abnormal cell phenotypes in S. cerevisiae resulting from either tor2-21, lst8-2 and rsp5-9 conditional mutants or over-expression of Sit4p and Sap155p (Kabir et al., 2005).

These examples, along with the data from paper II, demonstrate that CCT monomers appear to perform a diverse range of functions independently of the oligomer.

# Results

# Paper I

The extent to which cells rely upon CCT function was investigated in paper I using 2 different approaches to reduce functional levels of the chaperonin.

Firstly, an anti-CCT $\epsilon$  antibody (recognising an epitope located in the helical protrusion of the apical domain) was microinjected into synchronised cell populations, leading to an observed delay in cell cycle progression at G<sub>1</sub> to S phase transition. To investigate the effect of the antibody on CCT's substrate folding cycle,  $\alpha$ -tubulin,  $\beta$ -actin and a fragment of actin containing subdomains 3 and 4 were translated *in vitro* in rabbit reticulocyte lysate (a system rich in endogenous CCT). In the presence of this antibody, rates of substrate processing were delayed whilst substrate capture rates were unaffected.

The second way in which levels of functional CCT were reduced was by siRNA targeting of CCTζ-1 mRNA resulting in a reduction of total levels of CCT. Targeting cells with siRNA probes against the CCT $\beta$ ,  $\delta$  or  $\zeta$ -1 subunits led to growth arrest without cell-cycle checkpoint activation. CCT protein knockdown did not have general affects upon total levels of newly synthesized cytoplasmic proteins but dramatically affected levels of native cytoskeletal proteins. Whilst total levels of tubulin were significantly reduced just 1 day post-transfection (by up to as much as 70% compared to control cells), total actin levels were relatively unaffected even after 3 days. However, although total actin levels were unaffected, inability of actin to bind DNase I showed that CCT depleted cells have a high proportion of non-native actin. Observed cell phenotypes showing altered cell shape, irregular cytoplasmic actin organisation (as shown by immunofluorescence and phalloidin staining) and altered leading and retracting cell edges resulting in abnormal cell motility were all indicative that the usually meticulously organised actin cytoskeleton had been disrupted by reduced levels of functional CCT.

Therefore, these data demonstrate the dependence upon CCT for cell cycle progression and cytoskeletal organisation. Cell cycle delay can be induced by even a fairly subtle disruption to CCT-substrate folding activity (by antibody microinjection) and when levels of the CCT complex are greatly reduced by siRNA, cytoskeletal organisation is disrupted and cells undergo growth arrest.

An important observation from paper I led to the study in paper II. Biochemical analysis of the assembly state of CCT following siRNA targeting of the CCT $\zeta$ -1 subunit revealed that levels of the targeted subunit are, as expected, reduced. However, as oligomer assembly cannot occur as one monomeric component is missing, cells will have increased levels of the other seven non-targeted subunits in their monomeric assembly states.

#### Paper II

As observed in paper I, siRNA targeting of CCTζ-1 influences cell shape resulting in flatter cells with more F-actin staining at the leading edges compared to control cells, so in paper II we investigated the effect on cell shape of targeting each CCT subunit individually. Upon the targeting of CCT $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ ,  $\zeta$ -1,  $\eta$  or  $\theta$  subunits, cells appeared larger and flatter relative to control cells, however CCTE knockdown cells adopted a spindle-like formation, becoming longer and thinner. This suggests that the presence of monomeric CCT<sub>E</sub> (found in excess when other CCT subunits are the siRNA target) is responsible for flattened cell morphology and that spindle shaped cells are most likely a result of a lack of CCT<sub>E</sub> monomer. Supporting this reasoning, double knockdown experiments with CCT $\varepsilon$  and either CCT $\beta$  or  $\delta$  resulted in spindle shaped cells. Cell shape determination is dependent upon cytoskeletal networks and therefore we investigated the influence of disrupted CCT levels upon microfilament and microtubule re-polymerisation following drug treatment. The drugs used were latrunculin-A which depolymerise nocodazole and microtubules or microfilaments by binding  $\beta$ -tubulin or monomeric actin respectively. Upon removal of nocodazole, microtubule re-growth occurs starting with aster formation and then elongation of the microtubules towards the cell periphery. Compared to control cells, the rate of re-polymerisation is enhanced and the amount of unpolymerised tubulin after 1 hour of re-growth is reduced in the presence of excess CCT monomers resulting from CCT<sub>E</sub> and ζ-1 siRNA Re-growth of actin microfilaments is also affected following treatment. reduction in CCT levels, but differently than microtubule re-growth. The effect upon F-actin re-growth depends upon the siRNA targeted subunit and whilst CCTζ-1 knockdown cells were able to recover, those depleted of CCTε were unable to re-polymerise their actin microfilaments.

Localisation of both endogenous and epitope-tagged transfected CCT subunits was analysed by immunofluorescence. Cell staining using antibodies recognising endogenous CCT subunits was performed to see if any CCT subunits could possibly influence polymerisation by co-localising to cytoskeletal filaments. Interestingly CCTE staining was fibrous in appearance, reminiscent of F-actin staining. Co-staining with phalloidin and vinculin confirmed that CCT $\varepsilon$  co-localises to actin microfilaments whilst CCT $\delta$  does not. Staining using different endogenous CCTE antibodies confirmed its co-localisation to F-actin and additionally revealed a differently localised sub-population of CCTE at the cell periphery. Different antibodies may preferentially stain CCT<sub>E</sub> in different intra-cellular locations due to varying ease of accessibility to different antibody The availability of epitopes may depend upon, for example, CCT epitopes. assembly state. protein conformation or protein-protein interactions. Immunofluorescence staining for transiently transfected CCT subunits allowed them to be compared using an antibody to an incorporated epitope tag, thereby eliminating differences in antibody sensitivities for individual subunits. Whilst no subunits were found to localise to microtubules, co-staining with phalloidin revealed that CCT $\varepsilon$  and to a lesser extent CCT $\theta$  were localised to F-actin. Performing the same experiment with N-terminally truncated CCT subunits that are unable to enter the oligomer and therefore remain entirely monomeric, revealed three monomeric subunits, CCT $\varepsilon$ ,  $\zeta$  and  $\theta$ , localising to F-actin structures. Biochemical analysis of cell extracts following detergent based removal of soluble cytosolic proteins, revealed that the CCT remaining associated with the non-extracted fraction (containing intact cytoskeletal networks) was found predominantly as monomeric subunits. This is consistent with monomeric CCT subunits being involved in cytoskeletal organisation downstream of the folding of newly synthesised actin and tubulin polypeptide chains.

#### Paper III

In paper III the actin severing / capping protein gelsolin is identified as a novel CCT-binding protein via a proteomics approach using immunoprecipitation and liquid chromatography – mass spectrometry / mass spectrometry. Potential gelsolin-CCT interactions *in vivo* were also shown by using proximity ligation assays with anti-CCT $\epsilon$  and anti-gelsolin primary antibodies.

Interactions between the CCT oligomer and its folding substrates actin and tubulin are well characterised in a rabbit reticulocyte lysate *in vitro* translation system. Translation of gelsolin in the same system demonstrated CCT binding kinetics distinct from those of actin – an obligate CCT substrate. As opposed to binding to, being folded by and subsequently released from CCT, a small percentage of total gelsolin slowly binds and accumulates on the chaperonin oligomer. Structurally, gelsolin is composed of six individual domains, each of which were individually translated in rabbit reticulocyte lysate. Comparing the binding of these six domains to CCT, domain 4 shows higher affinity binding than the other 5 domains, suggesting that gelsolin may bind CCT with some degree of specificity.

Due to the role of gelsolin in microfilament re-modelling, identifying it as a CCT binding protein raises the question as to whether disruption of CCT subunit levels affects gelsolin levels as the findings of papers I and II implicate CCT subunit activity in cytoskeletal organisation and cell shape determination. If gelsolin were an obligate folding substrate of CCT, reducing levels of CCT oligomer by siRNA would have a knock-on effect and functional gelsolin levels should be reduced similarly regardless of the targeted CCT subunit. However, the fact that gelsolin levels are affected differently depending upon the CCT subunit targeted by siRNA, demonstrates that gelsolin does not behave as an obligate substrate. When CCT $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$  or  $\theta$  are targeted, levels of gelsolin are elevated relative to the control, whereas targeting CCT $\beta$  with siRNA reduces gelsolin levels appear to correlate to cells that are narrower as opposed to those flatter in appearance.

The fact that gelsolin is a CCT-binding protein identifies another link between CCT and cytoskeletal organisation, further broadening the role of this essential chaperonin beyond its protein folding activity essential for newly synthesised proteins.

#### Discussion

# Levels of functional CCT are important for cell cycle progression and cytoskeletal integrity

In paper I microinjection of an anti-CCT antibody (which delays the rate at which the CCT chaperonin is able fold its substrates) induces a delay in cell cycle, whilst siRNA targeting of CCT has a more severe effect, resulting in complete cell cycle arrest. These data demonstrate the importance of CCT for cell cycle progression. Consistent with the timing of the observed cell cycle delay, under normal conditions levels of CCT subunits (at both the mRNA and protein levels) are most up-regulated during  $G_1/S$  phase transition of the cell cycle (Yokota et al., 1999). The fact that CCT levels fluctuate throughout cell growth suggests that the requirement for native CCT substrates varies similarly and that chaperonin levels are up-regulated to satisfy such demands. Furthermore, tubulin synthesis levels peak around the G<sub>1</sub>/S transition whereas actin levels remain fairly consistent throughout the cell cycle (Yokota et al., 1999). This suggests that, in the presence of the CCTE antibody, levels of newly folded tubulin monomers may be reduced below a functional threshold, causing the observed delay in cell cycle progression. Cdh1, a protein involved in  $G_1/S$ transition relies upon CCT for folding to its functional conformation (Camasses et al., 2003). However, native levels of this protein were unaffected by the presence of CCT<sub>E</sub> antibody (paper I), indicating that loss of its function was not the cause of the observed cell cycle delay.

Whilst cells injected with the antibody were able to progress through S phase, albeit at a delayed rate, when cells were treated with siRNA the effect is more severe and cell growth was arrested. This arrest occurred non-synchronously and without checkpoint activation. This suggests that growth arrest occurs whenever levels of CCT substrates required for subsequent cell cycle progression are insufficient and cannot be replenished as CCT is depleted.

No global effects upon the levels of newly synthesised proteins were observed in cells with reduced levels of functional CCT, this could be expected due to the limited range of CCT obligate substrates, but contrasts the effects observed upon GroEL deletion in *E. coli* (Chapman et al., 2006), whereby 30-40% of cytoplasmic proteins become insoluble. However, CCT siRNA severely affected levels of native actin and tubulin. The observed decreases in total

tubulin levels and native actin levels demonstrate that both tubulin and actin rely upon CCT activity for folding to their native state. Within a time frame where at least 30% of CCT remains relative to the control, it appears that total tubulin levels have already halved, consistent with reports that tubulin levels are tightly regulated. For example, tubulin mRNA stability and synthesis rates are controlled by cytosolic tubulin concentrations and  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -tubulin levels are regulated relative to one other (Cleveland and Theodorakis, 1994).

CCT subunit deletion mutants are non-viable (Stoldt et al., 1996), as would be expected if functional CCT is essential for cell homeostasis. Cytoskeletal abnormalities in papers I and II support the hypothesis that CCT function is necessary for cytoskeletal organisation; actin and tubulins' dependence upon functional CCT levels should result in a disrupted cytoskeleton upon reduced CCT function. This also holds true when considering the effect of CCT mutants. A point mutation *anc2-1* in the CCT4 subunit (Vinh and Drubin, 1994) results in a disorganised actin cytoskeleton (Vinh and Drubin, 1994). Although mapped to the outside surface of the apical domain (Llorca et al., 1999a), a region not involved in CCT-substrate interactions, yeast cells carrying this mutation have reduced actin processing rates, due to altered allostery of CCT's ATPase activity (Shimon et al., 2008). Temperature sensitive *tcp1-1-3* mutants of CCT1 also result in cytoskeletal disorganisation and growth defects, which, can be partially rescued by CCT1p expression (Ursic and Culbertson, 1991; Ursic et al., 1994). Furthermore, *plp2* yeast mutants have cytoskeletal and cell cycle defects consistent with CCT folding substrates essential for these processes (Stirling et al., 2007).

In paper I although levels of total actin remained the same, the ratio between G/F-actin was affected upon siRNA targeting of CCT subunits. The pool of G-actin normally localised at the cells' leading edge is absent when CCT levels are reduced, whilst F-actin levels in these regions increase (paper I). This results in altered cytoskeletal organisation at the leading and retracting edges of cells, and consequently disrupted cell motility.

These examples demonstrate both the importance and fragility of the CCT system, which if even mildly disrupted has such far-reaching implications for cytoskeletal processes and ultimately cell viability.

<u>CCT's influence upon the cytoskeleton extends beyond the folding of newly</u> <u>synthesised substrate proteins; monomeric subunits influence cell shape and</u> <u>cytoskeletal dynamics</u>

In paper II the influence of CCT on cytoskeletal organisation was investigated and these effects were considered from the perspective of CCT monomeric subunits. Whilst different cell lines and tissues have varying CCT expression levels, levels of the 8 individual subunits appear to be tightly regulated (Kubota et al., 1999; Yokota et al., 1999). This, combined with the fact that null mutants of CCT subunits are lethal, is consistent with one copy of each subunit occupying a fixed position within each ring (Liou and Willison, 1997). When siRNA targets one CCT subunit, levels of the targeted subunit will be reduced whilst levels of the other subunits as monomers will increase (as oligomers cannot be formed) (paper I) and in paper II this was used to study the effects of individual CCT monomers. Previous reports have suggested roles for CCT monomers in cytoskeletal organisation, CCT $\alpha$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\zeta$  and  $\theta$  subunits have been shown to act as microtubule associated proteins (MAPs) (Roobol et al., 1999b) and CCT $\alpha$  has been shown to localise to centrosomes (Brown et al., 1996).

In paper II, CCTE was revealed as a key player in cytoskeletal organisation, influencing cell shape and actin polymerisation. In vitro studies have shown previously that CCT can interact with actin during polymerisation (Grantham et al., 2002) influencing the rate of polymerisation but not the final yield. Following polymerisation, not all subunits were found associated to the same degree and CCT $\delta$ , a keystone in CCT-actin interactions during folding, was not found associated with microfilaments (Grantham et al., 2002) consistent with paper II where no co-localisation of CCT $\delta$  to microfilaments was seen. This suggests that different CCT subunits are involved in interactions with actin monomers during folding and with polymerised F-actin. Rates of actin repolymerisation following drug induced depolymerisation are dependent upon which monomeric CCT subunits are present in excess (paper II) and cells lacking CCTE cannot re-polymerise their microfilaments, indicative of this subunit, when monomeric, influencing F-actin. CCT $\varepsilon$  and to a lesser extent  $\zeta$ and  $\theta$  co-localise to actin stress fibres, only a subset of which are decorated with CCT subunits, possibly representing the dynamic and heterogeneous nature of F-actin filaments and stress fibres. The actin turnover dynamics of individual stress fibres vary, and the less dynamic they are the more prominent they become (Bertling et al., 2004; Hotulainen et al., 2005). Therefore, as the stress

fibres decorated with CCT subunits tend to be those with weaker phalloidin staining; this may represent those that are more dynamic with higher rates of actin monomer exchange. As well as varying dynamics, F-actin filaments can also have different structural conformations (Egelman and Orlova, 1995a; 1995b). The structure they adopt may depend upon proteins bound to the filament and likewise F-actin binding proteins may only be able to bind to one or other form (Reisler and Egelman, 2007), therefore perhaps the sub-population of CCT bound filaments represents F-actin in a certain conformation.

Together papers I and II demonstrate the importance for CCT for the integrity of the cytoskeleton. Furthermore, CCT subunits in their monomeric form have been implicated as potential regulators of cell shape and mammalian cytoskeletal dynamics. These emerging roles for CCT allow a model to develop describing its interactions with actin and tubulin from nascent polypeptide chains to fully assembled cytoskeletal structures (Figure 4).



Figure 4: The interaction between CCT and the cytoskeleton extends beyond the folding of newly synthesised polypeptides, and involves interactions with monomeric CCT subunits. CCT monomers have been shown to influence microtubule and microfilament polymerisation and cell shape. Levels of CCT $\epsilon$  have been implicated as a factor for cell shape determination and this subunit has been shown to co-localise to microfilaments. As shown in the insert, when CCT $\epsilon$  is targeted by siRNA, levels of monomer decrease and cells adopt a spindle-shaped morphology, conversely when other CCT subunits are targeted, levels of monomeric CCT $\epsilon$  will increase and result in flattened cell shapes.

# Gelsolin binds CCT, but not as an obligate folding substrate

Gelsolin is a protein involved in regulating and remodelling the actin cytoskeleton via its role as an actin severing and capping protein. Gelsolin promotes actin dynamics more effectively than filament-capping actin binding proteins, because as a result of its severing action it increases the number of actin filaments. Although filament capping prevents elongation, this is reversible and in presence of PIP<sub>2</sub>, ADF or cofilin, uncapped filament ends will experience rapid turnover (e.g. Sun et al., 1999), therefore gelsolin's influence upon cytoskeletal dynamics extends beyond its severing mechanism.

Gelsolin is the founding member of a family of actin binding proteins containing gelsolin-like structural repeats. Gelsolin has six such domains whose structure and interactions with actin filaments have been characterised. Calcium activation is required to induce conformational changes in gelsolin, exposing actin binding sites and thereby facilitating gelsolin-actin interactions. A schematic representation of gelsolin structure and the way in which conformational changes facilitate F-actin severing and capping are shown in figure 5.

Following the identification of gelsolin as a CCT-interacting protein, the binding of gelsolin to CCT was investigated. Gelsolin appears to bind CCT most strongly via domain 4, which may indicate that gelsolin binds to the CCT chaperonin with some degree of sequence specificity. Gelsolin's six domains share a high degree of structural similarly and conserved sequence (Burtnick et al., 1997). However functional interactions such as gelsolin-actin binding are mediated via residues which vary between the different domains (Kwiatkowski, 1999). This may also hold true for gelsolin-CCT binding, consistent with domain 4 containing sequence specific CCT-binding determinants, which may not be present in the other domains.

Despite this specificity of its interaction, gelsolin does not appear to be "processed" by CCT in the same way as the CCT substrate actin (paper III). Gelsolin slowly accumulates on CCT over time, whereas actin binds to, and is subsequently released from the chaperonin (paper III and e.g. Grantham et al., 2000; McCormack et al., 2001a; McCormack et al., 2001b). This difference suggests that it is unlikely that gelsolin is dependent upon CCT to reach its native conformation. Furthermore, functional gelsolin and individual domains / groups of domains are commonly made in the absence of CCT, for example

when expressed recombinantly in *E. coli* (e.g. Azuma et al., 2000; Nag et al., 2009; Robinson et al., 1999). Gelsolin is a calcium regulated protein and in the presence of calcium undergoes major conformational rearrangements, shifting from a closed, inactive form to an extended, active conformation (Figure 5). Structural studies on the effects of gelsolin domains' calcium binding properties were performed with recombinantly expressed gelsolin (e.g. Choe et al., 2002; Robinson et al., 1999), therefore suggesting that CCT interactions are not required for gelsolin's ability to respond to calcium activation.



Figure 5: A cartoon representation of gelsolin's structure (A). In the inactive form of gelsolin, a "latch" helix from the C-terminus of domain 6 blocks actin filament binding sites in domain 2, upon calcium activation this latch is released from domain 2 (B). Conformational changes occur around the 53 amino acid linker between domains 3 and 4 and domain 2 binds F-actin thereby positioning domain 1 correctly for actin interactions. Domain 1 disrupts actin-actin interactions causing filament severing and when the C-terminal domains 4-6 swing across, binding a different actin monomer of the opposite side of the filament, capping is complete (C) (Figure based upon Burtnick et al., 1997).

In paper III we show that gelsolin levels are affected by CCT subunit levels. When CCT $\beta$  is depleted by siRNA, total gelsolin levels are reduced, whereas CCT $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$  or  $\theta$  targeted cells display elevated gelsolin levels. This is once again supportive of the fact that gelsolin is probably not a CCT substrate; if it were, gelsolin levels would be expected to decrease when the oligomer levels are depleted by siRNA. Furthermore, the effect of each individual CCT subunit would be the same. The observation that gelsolin levels are affected differently depednign upon the CCT subunit targeted by siRNA suggests some level of inter-dependence between CCT and gelsolin.

Levels of gelsolin have been linked with cancer cell motility and tumour invasiveness both of which depend upon the actin cytoskeleton. Gelsolin expression levels are reduced in 60-90% of tumours from a wide variety of tissues (reviewed by e.g. Kwiatkowski, 1999) and although this role of gelsolin as a tumour suppressor is consistent with reduced gelsolin mediated apoptosis, gelsolin null mutants do not have increased tumour incidence rates. Furthermore, other reports suggest that increased levels of gelsolin increase cell motility and invasiveness (Van den Abbeele et al., 2007) and can be linked to poor disease prognosis (Shieh et al., 1999), therefore suggestive of gelsolin as a tumour activator. Gelsolin's role in cancer progression is obviously complicated and so far largely undefined. However, as a mediator of actin cytoskeleton remodelling and apoptosis, both of which can influence cancer development, gelsolin may hold important clues for cancer research.

In paper III we have shown that there is a close association between gelsolin, an F-actin severing and capping protein and CCT, suggestive of another possible way in which CCT contributes to the regulation of cytoskeletal organisation.

# **Concluding Remarks**

The work described in this thesis has established new links between the mammalian cytoskeleton and the molecular chaperone CCT.

Functional CCT has been shown to be essential for cell cycle progression and cytoskeletal organisation. CCT monomers have been implicated in influencing cell shape and the polymerisation of microfilaments and microtubules. Furthermore, the actin regulating protein gelsolin has been identified as a CCT-binding protein.

Together these findings suggest that mammalian cytoskeletal organisation is governed by mechanisms dependent upon CCT. Identifying gelsolin as a CCTinteracting protein may broaden the ways in which CCT can regulate the actin cytoskeleton.

Interactions between CCT and cytoskeletal proteins therefore extend beyond CCT's role in the folding of newly synthesised polypeptides to influencing established cytoskeletal networks. Furthermore, this involves CCT subunits in their monomeric assembly state, suggesting a role independent of the CCT oligomer.

# Acknowledgements

So my time in Sweden has come to an end and this is my opportunity to thank those of you have made it special, both at work in the lab and on the outside in the big wide world.

Julie, thank-you for the opportunity to be a part of your lab, for your encouragement and support during my PhD and for your enthusiasm for science. In addition to being my supervisor, thank-you for the fun times with you and your lovely family.

Lisa, what can I say, you have been a fabulous lab-mate and I know that your PhD will go brilliantly. But, more importantly you are a great friend, who I will miss a lot and I can't thank you enough (Martin and the adorable Linnéa included of course) for all the great occasions and especially the many episodes of house moving assistance ;o)

I would also like to thanks other members of cell and molecular biology. Especially the group leaders, Gunnar, Jeanette, Per, Peter, Magnus and Nafiseh, with a special mention to Marc, my semi-official mentor for a while, thank you for your advice over the years, but also your infectious enthusiasm regarding science and life in general.

Henrik, Claes and Daniel thanks for being around to brighten the days and for some fabulous rowing efforts! Jeanette A, thanks for all the good times and some first class gossiping sessions. Åsa, thanks for all the trips to the trams dragging each other to life on the outside. To the three Indian musketeers thanks for the company on the 4<sup>th</sup> floor and the office based sugar supplies. Valida, Leif, Lars and Bruno thanks for all your help over the years.

Life in Göteborg has also been sweetened by friends outside of the lab, those of you back home, and those of you here, including many "vinden" residents. So Miss Therese, what can I say other than I will miss you and thank-you for all the fun, hope there will be more to come. Anders, thanks for sköna gröna and all those misunderstandings. Elina, bonde söker fru will not be the same without you! Elizabeth thanks for the lovely times here and in Portland and Tanja, never change, thanks for your chocolate waving tendencies and your beautiful music.

And last, but definitely not least, I want to thank my family for always supporting me, I couldn't have done this without you, and Kinson thank-you for believing in me, bearing the Uppsala cold and waiting patiently for the next stage in life to begin.

#### References

- Altschuler, G.M., and K.R. Willison. 2008. Development of free-energy-based models for chaperonin containing TCP-1 mediated folding of actin. *J R Soc Interface*. 5:1391-408.
- Anfinsen, C.B. 1973. Principles that govern the folding of protein chains. *Science*. 181:223-30.
- Archibald, J.M., J.M. Logsdon, Jr., and W.F. Doolittle. 2000. Origin and evolution of eukaryotic chaperonins: phylogenetic evidence for ancient duplications in CCT genes. *Mol Biol Evol.* 17:1456-66.
- Azuma, T., K. Koths, L. Flanagan, and D. Kwiatkowski. 2000. Gelsolin in complex with phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate inhibits caspase-3 and -9 to retard apoptotic progression. J Biol Chem. 275:3761-6.
- Behrends, C., C.A. Langer, R. Boteva, U.M. Bottcher, M.J. Stemp, G. Schaffar, B.V. Rao, A. Giese, H. Kretzschmar, K. Siegers, and F.U. Hartl. 2006. Chaperonin TRiC promotes the assembly of polyQ expansion proteins into nontoxic oligomers. *Mol Cell*. 23:887-97.
- Bertling, E., P. Hotulainen, P.K. Mattila, T. Matilainen, M. Salminen, and P. Lappalainen. 2004. Cyclase-associated protein 1 (CAP1) promotes cofilin-induced actin dynamics in mammalian nonmuscle cells. *Mol Biol Cell*. 15:2324-34.
- Brackley, K.I., and J. Grantham. 2009. Activities of the chaperonin containing TCP-1 (CCT): implications for cell cycle progression and cytoskeletal organisation. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 14:23-31.
- Brown, C.R., S.J. Doxsey, L.Q. Hong-Brown, R.L. Martin, and W.J. Welch. 1996. Molecular chaperones and the centrosome. A role for TCP-1 in microtubule nucleation. *J Biol Chem.* 271:824-32.
- Bucciantini, M., E. Giannoni, F. Chiti, F. Baroni, L. Formigli, J. Zurdo, N. Taddei, G. Ramponi, C.M. Dobson, and M. Stefani. 2002. Inherent toxicity of aggregates implies a common mechanism for protein misfolding diseases. *Nature*. 416:507-11.
- Bukau, B., and A.L. Horwich. 1998. The Hsp70 and Hsp60 chaperone machines. *Cell*. 92:351-66.
- Burtnick, L.D., E.K. Koepf, J. Grimes, E.Y. Jones, D.I. Stuart, P.J. McLaughlin, and R.C. Robinson. 1997. The crystal structure of plasma gelsolin: implications for actin severing, capping, and nucleation. *Cell*. 90:661-70.
- Camasses, A., A. Bogdanova, A. Shevchenko, and W. Zachariae. 2003. The CCT chaperonin promotes activation of the anaphase-promoting complex through the generation of functional Cdc20. *Mol Cell*. 12:87-100.
- Carballido-Lopez, R., and J. Errington. 2003. A dynamic bacterial cytoskeleton. *Trends Cell Biol.* 13:577-83.
- Chapman, E., G.W. Farr, R. Usaite, K. Furtak, W.A. Fenton, T.K. Chaudhuri, E.R. Hondorp, R.G. Matthews, S.G. Wolf, J.R. Yates, M. Pypaert, and A.L. Horwich. 2006. Global aggregation of newly translated proteins in an Escherichia coli strain deficient of the chaperonin GroEL. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 103:15800-5.
- Choe, H., L.D. Burtnick, M. Mejillano, H.L. Yin, R.C. Robinson, and S. Choe. 2002. The calcium activation of gelsolin: insights from the 3A structure of the G4-G6/actin complex. *J Mol Biol*. 324:691-702.
- Citri, A., D. Harari, G. Shohat, P. Ramakrishnan, J. Gan, S. Lavi, M. Eisenstein, A. Kimchi, D. Wallach, S. Pietrokovski, and Y. Yarden. 2006. Hsp90 recognizes a common surface on client kinases. *J Biol Chem*. 281:14361-9.

- Cleveland, D., and N. Theodorakis. 1994. Regulation of tubulin synthesis. *In* Microtubules. Hyams and Lloyd, editors. Wiley-Liss, New York. 47-58.
- Craig, E.A. 2003. Eukaryotic chaperonins: lubricating the folding of WD-repeat proteins. *Curr Biol.* 13:R904-5.
- Craig, E.A., H.C. Eisenman, and H.A. Hundley. 2003. Ribosome-tethered molecular chaperones: the first line of defense against protein misfolding? *Curr Opin Microbiol*. 6:157-62.
- Dekker, C. 2010. On the role of the chaperonin CCT in the just-in-time assembly process of APC/CCdc20. *FEBS Lett.* 584:477-81.
- Dekker, C., P.C. Stirling, E.A. McCormack, H. Filmore, A. Paul, R.L. Brost, M. Costanzo, C. Boone, M.R. Leroux, and K.R. Willison. 2008. The interaction network of the chaperonin CCT. *EMBO J*. 27:1827-39.
- Desai, A., and T.J. Mitchison. 1997. Microtubule polymerization dynamics. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol*. 13:83-117.
- Ditzel, L., J. Lowe, D. Stock, K.O. Stetter, H. Huber, R. Huber, and S. Steinbacher. 1998. Crystal structure of the thermosome, the archaeal chaperonin and homolog of CCT. *Cell*. 93:125-38.
- Dobson, C.M. 2003. Protein folding and misfolding. Nature. 426:884-90.
- dos Remedios, C.G., D. Chhabra, M. Kekic, I.V. Dedova, M. Tsubakihara, D.A. Berry, and N.J. Nosworthy. 2003. Actin binding proteins: regulation of cytoskeletal microfilaments. *Physiol Rev.* 83:433-73.
- Dunn, A.Y., M.W. Melville, and J. Frydman. 2001. Review: cellular substrates of the eukaryotic chaperonin TRiC/CCT. *J Struct Biol*. 135:176-84.
- Egelman, E.H., and A. Orlova. 1995a. Allostery, cooperativity, and different structural states in F-actin. *J Struct Biol*. 115:159-62.
- Egelman, E.H., and A. Orlova. 1995b. New insights into actin filament dynamics. *Curr Opin Struct Biol*. 5:172-80.
- Ellis, J. 1987. Proteins as molecular chaperones. Nature. 328:378-9.
- Ellis, R.J. 1997. Molecular chaperones: avoiding the crowd. Curr Biol. 7:R531-3.
- Fayet, O., T. Ziegelhoffer, and C. Georgopoulos. 1989. The groES and groEL heat shock gene products of Escherichia coli are essential for bacterial growth at all temperatures. J Bacteriol. 171:1379-85.
- Feldman, D.E., V. Thulasiraman, R.G. Ferreyra, and J. Frydman. 1999. Formation of the VHL-elongin BC tumor suppressor complex is mediated by the chaperonin TRiC. *Mol Cell*. 4:1051-61.
- Gao, Y., J.O. Thomas, R.L. Chow, G.H. Lee, and N.J. Cowan. 1992. A cytoplasmic chaperonin that catalyzes beta-actin folding. *Cell*. 69:1043-50.
- Grantham, J., O. Llorca, J.M. Valpuesta, and K.R. Willison. 2000. Partial occlusion of both cavities of the eukaryotic chaperonin with antibody has no effect upon the rates of beta-actin or alpha-tubulin folding. *J Biol Chem*. 275:4587-91.
- Grantham, J., L.W. Ruddock, A. Roobol, and M.J. Carden. 2002. Eukaryotic chaperonin containing T-complex polypeptide 1 interacts with filamentous actin and reduces the initial rate of actin polymerization in vitro. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 7:235-42.
- Guenther, M.G., J. Yu, G.D. Kao, T.J. Yen, and M.A. Lazar. 2002. Assembly of the SMRThistone deacetylase 3 repression complex requires the TCP-1 ring complex. *Genes Dev.* 16:3130-5.
- Gutsche, I., L.O. Essen, and W. Baumeister. 1999. Group II chaperonins: new TRiC(k)s and turns of a protein folding machine. *J Mol Biol*. 293:295-312.
- Hansen, W.J., N.J. Cowan, and W.J. Welch. 1999. Prefoldin-nascent chain complexes in the folding of cytoskeletal proteins. *J Cell Biol*. 145:265-77.

- Hartl, F.U., and M. Hayer-Hartl. 2002. Molecular chaperones in the cytosol: from nascent chain to folded protein. *Science*. 295:1852-8.
- Ho, Y., A. Gruhler, A. Heilbut, G.D. Bader, L. Moore, S.L. Adams, A. Millar, P. Taylor, K. Bennett, K. Boutilier, L. Yang, C. Wolting, I. Donaldson, S. Schandorff, J. Shewnarane, M. Vo, J. Taggart, M. Goudreault, B. Muskat, C. Alfarano, D. Dewar, Z. Lin, K. Michalickova, A.R. Willems, H. Sassi, P.A. Nielsen, K.J. Rasmussen, J.R. Andersen, L.E. Johansen, L.H. Hansen, H. Jespersen, A. Podtelejnikov, E. Nielsen, J. Crawford, V. Poulsen, B.D. Sorensen, J. Matthiesen, R.C. Hendrickson, F. Gleeson, T. Pawson, M.F. Moran, D. Durocher, M. Mann, C.W. Hogue, D. Figeys, and M. Tyers. 2002. Systematic identification of protein complexes in Saccharomyces cerevisiae by mass spectrometry. *Nature*. 415:180-3.
- Horwich, A.L., A.C. Apetri, and W.A. Fenton. 2009. The GroEL/GroES cis cavity as a passive anti-aggregation device. *FEBS Lett.* 583:2654-62.
- Horwich, A.L., W.A. Fenton, E. Chapman, and G.W. Farr. 2007. Two families of chaperonin: physiology and mechanism. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol*. 23:115-45.
- Hotulainen, P., and P. Lappalainen. 2006. Stress fibers are generated by two distinct actin assembly mechanisms in motile cells. *J Cell Biol*. 173:383-94.
- Hotulainen, P., E. Paunola, M.K. Vartiainen, and P. Lappalainen. 2005. Actin-depolymerizing factor and cofilin-1 play overlapping roles in promoting rapid F-actin depolymerization in mammalian nonmuscle cells. *Mol Biol Cell*. 16:649-64.
- Hynes, G.M., and K.R. Willison. 2000. Individual subunits of the eukaryotic cytosolic chaperonin mediate interactions with binding sites located on subdomains of beta-actin. *J Biol Chem.* 275:18985-94.
- Johnson, B.D., R.J. Schumacher, E.D. Ross, and D.O. Toft. 1998. Hop modulates Hsp70/Hsp90 interactions in protein folding. *J Biol Chem.* 273:3679-86.
- Kabir, M.A., J. Kaminska, G.B. Segel, G. Bethlendy, P. Lin, F. Della Seta, C. Blegen, K.M. Swiderek, T. Zoladek, K.T. Arndt, and F. Sherman. 2005. Physiological effects of unassembled chaperonin Cct subunits in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Yeast*. 22:219-39.
- Kim, S., K.R. Willison, and A.L. Horwich. 1994. Cystosolic chaperonin subunits have a conserved ATPase domain but diverged polypeptide-binding domains. *Trends Biochem Sci.* 19:543-8.
- Kitamura, A., H. Kubota, C.G. Pack, G. Matsumoto, S. Hirayama, Y. Takahashi, H. Kimura, M. Kinjo, R.I. Morimoto, and K. Nagata. 2006. Cytosolic chaperonin prevents polyglutamine toxicity with altering the aggregation state. *Nat Cell Biol.* 8:1163-70.
- Klumpp, M., W. Baumeister, and L.O. Essen. 1997. Structure of the substrate binding domain of the thermosome, an archaeal group II chaperonin. *Cell*. 91:263-70.
- Kubota, H., G. Hynes, A. Carne, A. Ashworth, and K. Willison. 1994. Identification of six Tcp-1-related genes encoding divergent subunits of the TCP-1-containing chaperonin. *Curr Biol.* 4:89-99.
- Kubota, H., G.M. Hynes, S.M. Kerr, and K.R. Willison. 1997. Tissue-specific subunit of the mouse cytosolic chaperonin-containing TCP-1. *FEBS Lett.* 402:53-6.
- Kubota, H., S. Yokota, H. Yanagi, and T. Yura. 1999. Structures and co-regulated expression of the genes encoding mouse cytosolic chaperonin CCT subunits. *Eur J Biochem*. 262:492-500.
- Kwiatkowski, D.J. 1999. Functions of gelsolin: motility, signaling, apoptosis, cancer. *Curr Opin Cell Biol.* 11:103-8.
- Lai, B.T., N.W. Chin, A.E. Stanek, W. Keh, and K.W. Lanks. 1984. Quantitation and intracellular localization of the 85K heat shock protein by using monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies. *Mol Cell Biol*. 4:2802-10.

- Leroux, M.R., M. Fandrich, D. Klunker, K. Siegers, A.N. Lupas, J.R. Brown, E. Schiebel, C.M. Dobson, and F.U. Hartl. 1999. MtGimC, a novel archaeal chaperone related to the eukaryotic chaperonin cofactor GimC/prefoldin. *EMBO J.* 18:6730-43.
- Lin, P., and F. Sherman. 1997. The unique hetero-oligomeric nature of the subunits in the catalytic cooperativity of the yeast Cct chaperonin complex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A. 94:10780-5.
- Liou, A.K., and K.R. Willison. 1997. Elucidation of the subunit orientation in CCT (chaperonin containing TCP1) from the subunit composition of CCT microcomplexes. *EMBO J.* 16:4311-6.
- Liu, X., C.Y. Lin, M. Lei, S. Yan, T. Zhou, and R.L. Erikson. 2005. CCT chaperonin complex is required for the biogenesis of functional Plk1. *Mol Cell Biol*. 25:4993-5010.
- Llorca, O., J. Martin-Benito, P. Gomez-Puertas, M. Ritco-Vonsovici, K.R. Willison, J.L. Carrascosa, and J.M. Valpuesta. 2001a. Analysis of the interaction between the eukaryotic chaperonin CCT and its substrates actin and tubulin. *J Struct Biol*. 135:205-18.
- Llorca, O., J. Martin-Benito, J. Grantham, M. Ritco-Vonsovici, K.R. Willison, J.L. Carrascosa, and J.M. Valpuesta. 2001b. The 'sequential allosteric ring' mechanism in the eukaryotic chaperonin-assisted folding of actin and tubulin. *EMBO J.* 20:4065-75.
- Llorca, O., J. Martin-Benito, M. Ritco-Vonsovici, J. Grantham, G.M. Hynes, K.R. Willison, J.L. Carrascosa, and J.M. Valpuesta. 2000. Eukaryotic chaperonin CCT stabilizes actin and tubulin folding intermediates in open quasi-native conformations. *EMBO J*. 19:5971-9.
- Llorca, O., E.A. McCormack, G. Hynes, J. Grantham, J. Cordell, J.L. Carrascosa, K.R. Willison, J.J. Fernandez, and J.M. Valpuesta. 1999a. Eukaryotic type II chaperonin CCT interacts with actin through specific subunits. *Nature*. 402:693-6.
- Llorca, O., M.G. Smyth, J.L. Carrascosa, K.R. Willison, M. Radermacher, S. Steinbacher, and J.M. Valpuesta. 1999b. 3D reconstruction of the ATP-bound form of CCT reveals the asymmetric folding conformation of a type II chaperonin. *Nat Struct Biol*. 6:639-42.
- Llorca, O., M.G. Smyth, S. Marco, J.L. Carrascosa, K.R. Willison, and J.M. Valpuesta. 1998. ATP binding induces large conformational changes in the apical and equatorial domains of the eukaryotic chaperonin containing TCP-1 complex. J Biol Chem. 273:10091-4.
- Martin-Benito, J., J. Boskovic, P. Gomez-Puertas, J.L. Carrascosa, C.T. Simons, S.A. Lewis, F. Bartolini, N.J. Cowan, and J.M. Valpuesta. 2002. Structure of eukaryotic prefoldin and of its complexes with unfolded actin and the cytosolic chaperonin CCT. *EMBO J.* 21:6377-86.
- Martin-Benito, J., J. Gomez-Reino, P.C. Stirling, V.F. Lundin, P. Gomez-Puertas, J. Boskovic, P. Chacon, J.J. Fernandez, J. Berenguer, M.R. Leroux, and J.M. Valpuesta. 2007a. Divergent substrate-binding mechanisms reveal an evolutionary specialization of eukaryotic prefoldin compared to its archaeal counterpart. *Structure*. 15:101-10.
- Martin-Benito, J., J. Grantham, J. Boskovic, K.I. Brackley, J.L. Carrascosa, K.R. Willison, and J.M. Valpuesta. 2007b. The inter-ring arrangement of the cytosolic chaperonin CCT. *EMBO Rep.* 8:252-7.
- Mayer, M.P., and B. Bukau. 2005. Hsp70 chaperones: cellular functions and molecular mechanism. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 62:670-84.
- McCormack, E.A., G.M. Altschuler, C. Dekker, H. Filmore, and K.R. Willison. 2009. Yeast phosducin-like protein 2 acts as a stimulatory co-factor for the folding of actin by the chaperonin CCT via a ternary complex. *J Mol Biol*. 391:192-206.
- McCormack, E.A., O. Llorca, J.L. Carrascosa, J.M. Valpuesta, and K.R. Willison. 2001a. Point mutations in a hinge linking the small and large domains of beta-actin result in

trapped folding intermediates bound to cytosolic chaperonin CCT. J Struct Biol. 135:198-204.

- McCormack, E.A., M.J. Rohman, and K.R. Willison. 2001b. Mutational screen identifies critical amino acid residues of beta-actin mediating interaction between its folding intermediates and eukaryotic cytosolic chaperonin CCT. *J Struct Biol.* 135:185-97.
- Melville, M.W., A.J. McClellan, A.S. Meyer, A. Darveau, and J. Frydman. 2003. The Hsp70 and TRiC/CCT chaperone systems cooperate in vivo to assemble the von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor complex. *Mol Cell Biol.* 23:3141-51.
- Michie, K.A., and J. Lowe. 2006. Dynamic filaments of the bacterial cytoskeleton. *Annu Rev Biochem*. 75:467-92.
- Nag, S., Q. Ma, H. Wang, S. Chumnarnsilpa, W.L. Lee, M. Larsson, B. Kannan, M. Hernandez-Valladares, L.D. Burtnick, and R.C. Robinson. 2009. Ca2+ binding by domain 2 plays a critical role in the activation and stabilization of gelsolin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 106:13713-8.
- Nathan, D.F., M.H. Vos, and S. Lindquist. 1997. In vivo functions of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae Hsp90 chaperone. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 94:12949-56.
- Naumanen, P., P. Lappalainen, and P. Hotulainen. 2008. Mechanisms of actin stress fibre assembly. *J Microsc*. 231:446-54.
- Neckers, L. 2007. Heat shock protein 90: the cancer chaperone. J Biosci. 32:517-30.
- Neirynck, K., D. Waterschoot, J. Vandekerckhove, C. Ampe, and H. Rommelaere. 2006. Actin interacts with CCT via discrete binding sites: a binding transition-release model for CCT-mediated actin folding. *J Mol Biol*. 355:124-38.
- Nissen, P., J. Hansen, N. Ban, P.B. Moore, and T.A. Steitz. 2000. The structural basis of ribosome activity in peptide bond synthesis. *Science*. 289:920-30.
- Pappenberger, G., E.A. McCormack, and K.R. Willison. 2006. Quantitative actin folding reactions using yeast CCT purified via an internal tag in the CCT3/gamma subunit. J Mol Biol. 360:484-96.
- Pappenberger, G., J.A. Wilsher, S.M. Roe, D.J. Counsell, K.R. Willison, and L.H. Pearl. 2002. Crystal structure of the CCTgamma apical domain: implications for substrate binding to the eukaryotic cytosolic chaperonin. *J Mol Biol.* 318:1367-79.
- Pearl, L.H., and C. Prodromou. 2006. Structure and mechanism of the Hsp90 molecular chaperone machinery. *Annu Rev Biochem*. 75:271-94.
- Pearl, L.H., C. Prodromou, and P. Workman. 2008. The Hsp90 molecular chaperone: an open and shut case for treatment. *Biochem J*. 410:439-53.
- Pellegrin, S., and H. Mellor. 2007. Actin stress fibres. J Cell Sci. 120:3491-9.
- Pollard, T.D. 1990. Actin. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2:33-40.
- Pollard, T.D., and J.A. Cooper. 2009. Actin, a central player in cell shape and movement. *Science*. 326:1208-12.
- Reisler, E., and E.H. Egelman. 2007. Actin structure and function: what we still do not understand. *J Biol Chem.* 282:36133-7.
- Reissmann, S., C. Parnot, C.R. Booth, W. Chiu, and J. Frydman. 2007. Essential function of the built-in lid in the allosteric regulation of eukaryotic and archaeal chaperonins. *Nat Struct Mol Biol.* 14:432-40.
- Rivenzon-Segal, D., S.G. Wolf, L. Shimon, K.R. Willison, and A. Horovitz. 2005. Sequential ATP-induced allosteric transitions of the cytoplasmic chaperonin containing TCP-1 revealed by EM analysis. *Nat Struct Mol Biol.* 12:233-7.
- Robinson, R.C., M. Mejillano, V.P. Le, L.D. Burtnick, H.L. Yin, and S. Choe. 1999. Domain movement in gelsolin: a calcium-activated switch. *Science*. 286:1939-42.

- Rommelaere, H., M. De Neve, R. Melki, J. Vandekerckhove, and C. Ampe. 1999. The cytosolic class II chaperonin CCT recognizes delineated hydrophobic sequences in its target proteins. *Biochemistry*. 38:3246-57.
- Roobol, A., J. Grantham, H.C. Whitaker, and M.J. Carden. 1999a. Disassembly of the cytosolic chaperonin in mammalian cell extracts at intracellular levels of K+ and ATP. *J Biol Chem.* 274:19220-7.
- Roobol, A., Z.P. Sahyoun, and M.J. Carden. 1999b. Selected subunits of the cytosolic chaperonin associate with microtubules assembled in vitro. *J Biol Chem.* 274:2408-15.
- Shieh, D.B., J. Godleski, J.E. Herndon, 2nd, T. Azuma, H. Mercer, D.J. Sugarbaker, and D.J. Kwiatkowski. 1999. Cell motility as a prognostic factor in Stage I nonsmall cell lung carcinoma: the role of gelsolin expression. *Cancer*. 85:47-57.
- Shimon, L., G.M. Hynes, E.A. McCormack, K.R. Willison, and A. Horovitz. 2008. ATPinduced allostery in the eukaryotic chaperonin CCT is abolished by the mutation G345D in CCT4 that renders yeast temperature-sensitive for growth. J Mol Biol. 377:469-77.
- Siegers, K., B. Bolter, J.P. Schwarz, U.M. Bottcher, S. Guha, and F.U. Hartl. 2003. TRiC/CCT cooperates with different upstream chaperones in the folding of distinct protein classes. *EMBO J.* 22:5230-40.
- Sigler, P.B., Z. Xu, H.S. Rye, S.G. Burston, W.A. Fenton, and A.L. Horwich. 1998. Structure and function in GroEL-mediated protein folding. *Annu Rev Biochem*. 67:581-608.
- Soues, S., M.L. Kann, J.P. Fouquet, and R. Melki. 2003. The cytosolic chaperonin CCT associates to cytoplasmic microtubular structures during mammalian spermiogenesis and to heterochromatin in germline and somatic cells. *Exp Cell Res.* 288:363-73.
- Stefani, M., and C.M. Dobson. 2003. Protein aggregation and aggregate toxicity: new insights into protein folding, misfolding diseases and biological evolution. *J Mol Med.* 81:678-99.
- Stemp, M.J., S. Guha, F.U. Hartl, and J.M. Barral. 2005. Efficient production of native actin upon translation in a bacterial lysate supplemented with the eukaryotic chaperonin TRiC. *Biol Chem.* 386:753-7.
- Sternlicht, H., G.W. Farr, M.L. Sternlicht, J.K. Driscoll, K. Willison, and M.B. Yaffe. 1993. The t-complex polypeptide 1 complex is a chaperonin for tubulin and actin in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 90:9422-6.
- Stirling, P.C., M. Srayko, K.S. Takhar, A. Pozniakovsky, A.A. Hyman, and M.R. Leroux. 2007. Functional interaction between phosducin-like protein 2 and cytosolic chaperonin is essential for cytoskeletal protein function and cell cycle progression. *Mol Biol Cell*. 18:2336-45.
- Stoldt, V., F. Rademacher, V. Kehren, J.F. Ernst, D.A. Pearce, and F. Sherman. 1996. Review: the Cct eukaryotic chaperonin subunits of Saccharomyces cerevisiae and other yeasts. *Yeast*. 12:523-9.
- Sun, H.Q., M. Yamamoto, M. Mejillano, and H.L. Yin. 1999. Gelsolin, a multifunctional actin regulatory protein. *J Biol Chem*. 274:33179-82.
- Tam, S., R. Geller, C. Spiess, and J. Frydman. 2006. The chaperonin TRiC controls polyglutamine aggregation and toxicity through subunit-specific interactions. *Nat Cell Biol.* 8:1155-62.
- Tam, S., C. Spiess, W. Auyeung, L. Joachimiak, B. Chen, M.A. Poirier, and J. Frydman. 2009. The chaperonin TRiC blocks a huntingtin sequence element that promotes the conformational switch to aggregation. *Nat Struct Mol Biol.* 16:1279-85.
- Tian, G., I.E. Vainberg, W.D. Tap, S.A. Lewis, and N.J. Cowan. 1995a. Quasi-native chaperonin-bound intermediates in facilitated protein folding. *J Biol Chem.* 270:23910-3.

- Tian, G., I.E. Vainberg, W.D. Tap, S.A. Lewis, and N.J. Cowan. 1995b. Specificity in chaperonin-mediated protein folding. *Nature*. 375:250-3.
- Ursic, D., and M.R. Culbertson. 1991. The yeast homolog to mouse Tcp-1 affects microtubule-mediated processes. *Mol Cell Biol*. 11:2629-40.
- Ursic, D., J.C. Sedbrook, K.L. Himmel, and M.R. Culbertson. 1994. The essential yeast Tcp1 protein affects actin and microtubules. *Mol Biol Cell*. 5:1065-80.
- Vainberg, I.E., S.A. Lewis, H. Rommelaere, C. Ampe, J. Vandekerckhove, H.L. Klein, and N.J. Cowan. 1998. Prefoldin, a chaperone that delivers unfolded proteins to cytosolic chaperonin. *Cell*. 93:863-73.
- Valiron, O., N. Caudron, and D. Job. 2001. Microtubule dynamics. Cell Mol Life Sci. 58:2069-84.
- Valpuesta, J.M., J. Martin-Benito, P. Gomez-Puertas, J.L. Carrascosa, and K.R. Willison. 2002. Structure and function of a protein folding machine: the eukaryotic cytosolic chaperonin CCT. *FEBS Lett.* 529:11-6.
- Van den Abbeele, A., V. De Corte, K. Van Impe, E. Bruyneel, C. Boucherie, M. Bracke, J. Vandekerckhove, and J. Gettemans. 2007. Downregulation of gelsolin family proteins counteracts cancer cell invasion in vitro. *Cancer Lett.* 255:57-70.
- van den Ent, F., L.A. Amos, and J. Lowe. 2001. Prokaryotic origin of the actin cytoskeleton. *Nature*. 413:39-44.
- Wang, X., J. Venable, P. LaPointe, D.M. Hutt, A.V. Koulov, J. Coppinger, C. Gurkan, W. Kellner, J. Matteson, H. Plutner, J.R. Riordan, J.W. Kelly, J.R. Yates, 3rd, and W.E. Balch. 2006. Hsp90 cochaperone Aha1 downregulation rescues misfolding of CFTR in cystic fibrosis. *Cell*. 127:803-15.
- Wegele, H., L. Muller, and J. Buchner. 2004. Hsp70 and Hsp90--a relay team for protein folding. *Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol*. 151:1-44.
- Wegele, H., S.K. Wandinger, A.B. Schmid, J. Reinstein, and J. Buchner. 2006. Substrate transfer from the chaperone Hsp70 to Hsp90. *J Mol Biol*. 356:802-11.
- Willardson, B.M., and A.C. Howlett. 2007. Function of phosducin-like proteins in G protein signaling and chaperone-assisted protein folding. *Cell Signal*. 19:2417-27.
- Villebeck, L., S.B. Moparthi, M. Lindgren, P. Hammarstrom, and B.H. Jonsson. 2007. Domain-specific chaperone-induced expansion is required for beta-actin folding: a comparison of beta-actin conformations upon interactions with GroEL and tail-less complex polypeptide 1 ring complex (TRiC). *Biochemistry*. 46:12639-47.
- Willison, K.R., and J. Grantham. 2001. In Molecular Chaperones: Frontiers in Molecular Biology. P. Lund, editor. Oxford University Press, Oxford. 90-118.
- Vinh, D.B., and D.G. Drubin. 1994. A yeast TCP-1-like protein is required for actin function in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 91:9116-20.
- Won, K.A., R.J. Schumacher, G.W. Farr, A.L. Horwich, and S.I. Reed. 1998. Maturation of human cyclin E requires the function of eukaryotic chaperonin CCT. *Mol Cell Biol*. 18:7584-9.
- Xu, Z., A.L. Horwich, and P.B. Sigler. 1997. The crystal structure of the asymmetric GroEL-GroES-(ADP)7 chaperonin complex. *Nature*. 388:741-50.
- Yaffe, M.B., G.W. Farr, D. Miklos, A.L. Horwich, M.L. Sternlicht, and H. Sternlicht. 1992. TCP1 complex is a molecular chaperone in tubulin biogenesis. *Nature*. 358:245-8.
- Yam, A.Y., Y. Xia, H.T. Lin, A. Burlingame, M. Gerstein, and J. Frydman. 2008. Defining the TRiC/CCT interactome links chaperonin function to stabilization of newly made proteins with complex topologies. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*. 15:1255-62.
- Yifrach, O., and A. Horovitz. 1995. Nested cooperativity in the ATPase activity of the oligomeric chaperonin GroEL. *Biochemistry*. 34:5303-8.

- Yokota, S., H. Yanagi, T. Yura, and H. Kubota. 1999. Cytosolic chaperonin is up-regulated during cell growth. Preferential expression and binding to tubulin at G(1)/S transition through early S phase. *J Biol Chem.* 274:37070-8.
- Young, J.C., V.R. Agashe, K. Siegers, and F.U. Hartl. 2004. Pathways of chaperone-mediated protein folding in the cytosol. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 5:781-91.